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STATE OF NEVADA 

JOE LOMBARDO   DR. KRISTOPHER SANCHEZ  6
Governor  Director B&I  

VAUGHN HARTUNG  
Chairman  

ADAM TETI  
Commissioner   

LOUIS V. CSOKA  
Commissioner   

DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY  
NEVADA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY  

MINUTES OF DECEMBER 11, 2025, GENERAL SESSION  

1. Call to Order 

Chairman Vaughn Hartung called the Meeting to order at 9:30 am PST. 

2. Roll Call 

Commissioner  Louis  V. Csoka, Commissioner Adam Teti, Chairman Vaughn Hartung, Administrative 
Attorney Yoneet Wilburn, Deputy  Attorney General Jessica Guerra,  Applications Manager Liz Babcock, 
Financial Analyst Garrett Hammack, Deputy Commissioner Todd Park 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

Commissioner Adam Teti led the Pledge  of Allegiance. 

4. Public Comment 

There was no public comment  given. 

5. Approval of Agenda – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Applications Manager Liz Babcock informed the  Commission that item 111 was to be pulled from the 
Agenda. She also noted typographical errors  in items 45, 65, 83, 100, and 109. These errors will be fixed 
in the final orders. 

Chairman Vaughn Hartung noted a typographical error in the order for  item 69. Administrative Attorney 
Yoneet Wilburn assured the Commission that this  error would be fixed in the final order. 

Vote taken to approve the Agenda, noting the typographical errors in items 45, 65, 69, 83, 100 and 109, 
and additionally noting that item 111 has been pulled from the Agenda: 
Item  5 
Motion made by Commissioner  Teti 
Seconded by Commissioner  Csoka 
Approved 3-0 

6. Approval of the Minutes of the  November 6  Agenda Meeting  – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Vote taken to approve the November 6 Agenda Minutes: 
Item  6 



Motion made by Commissioner  Teti  
Seconded by Commissioner  Csoka  

Approved 3-0  
 
7.  Briefings from the Commissioners  

 
Chairman Vaughn Hartung wished everyone happy holidays, and expressed appreciation for  the 
Enforcement Staff’s efforts  during the F1 event, which led to 16 impounds. 
 
Commissioner Adam Teti thanked Staff for their work to put the Agenda together. 
 
Commissioner Louis V. Csoka echoed Commissioner Teti’s thanking of Staff and wished everyone  happy  
holidays. 

 
8.  Briefing from the Deputy Commissioner  

 
Deputy Commissioner Todd Park informed the Commission that Chief of Enforcement Dominic  Del  Padre  
could not attend the Meeting today, but echoed Chairman Vaughn Hartung’s appreciation of Staff’s  work  
during the F1 event. Deputy Commissioner Park also presented Management Analyst Hope DiBartolomeo 
with a certificate of recognition from Governor Joe Lombardo for her 20 years of service with the State of  
Nevada. Deputy Commissioner Park also noted that two recently retired Staff members, Karen Rayson 
and Yvonne Shelton, also received certificates of recognition. 

 
9.  Briefing from the Chief of Enforcement  

 
There was no briefing from the Chief of Enforcement. 

 
10.  Report of Legal  Counsel  

 
There was nothing to report from legal counsel. 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE CITATIONS AND IMPOUNDMENTS  

  
Items  11 through 13 were heard as a block. Commissioner Louis V. Csoka recused himself from the vote  
on this block due to his prior involvement with the matters in his capacity as Senior Deputy Attorney  
General.  
 
Items 14 through 82 were heard as a second block. Commissioner Csoka was able to participate in this  
vote.  

 
11.  Citation 23195 issued to Filimone Tauvao for violation of NAC 706.234.1 (DG) – FOR POSSIBLE 

ACTION  
 
12.  Citations 25259 and 25260 issued to Raiser, LLC for violations of NRS 706A.160(2)(a)(5)  (2 counts), 

NRS 706A.160(2)(b), and NRS 706A.180(2) (DG) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
13.  Impound I-4445 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to U-Haul Co of  

Arizona (DG)  – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION   
 
14.  Citation 23199 issued to Christa Barrett for violation of NAC 706.2473 ref. 49 CFR 382.213 and NAC  

706.1378 (AT) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 



15.  Citation 23375 and Impound I-4450 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 
to Alyson Bernal and Citation 23375 issued to Zackary Rosenthal for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS  
706.758 (AT)  –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
16.  Citation 24344 and Impound I-5368 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 24344 issued to Stephen Barnes /  Lake Tahoe Celebrity Transportation for violations of  
NRS 706.386 and NRS 706.758 (AT)  –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
17.  Citation 24924  issued to Yordanis Gutierrez Melendez  for violation of NRS  706.386 ( AT) –  FOR 

POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
18.  Citation 24934 and Impound I-4737 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 24934 issued to Yanhua Lee for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 (AT)  –  
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
19.  Citation 24935 and Impound I-4745 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 24935 issued to Alexander Vallejo Avila for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS  
706A.280 (AT)  –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
20.  Citation 25516 and Impound I-5522 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25516 issued to Ruben Rodriguez-Rodriguez for violations  of NRS 706.386 and NRS  
706A.280 (AT)  –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION   

 
21.  Citation 25517  issued to Larry Harris for violation of NRS 706.386 (AT)  –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
22.  Citation 25621  and Impound I-4739  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25621 i ssued to D’Marco Schifano for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 
(AT) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
23.  Citation 26036 and  25594 and Impound I-5507  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a  

vehicle registered to and Citations 26036 and 25594 issued to Frederick Quillin for violation of NRS  
706.386, N RS 706.758, and NRS 706A.280  (AT) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
24.  Impound I-4451 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Dennis Meske  

(AT) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
25.  Impound I-4742 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to EAN Holdings, 

LLC  (AT) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
26.  Impound I-5408 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Carl Dangerfield 

(AT) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
27.  Impound I-5532  The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Avis Car Rental  

(AT) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
28.  Citation 25347 and Impound I-4978 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25347 issued to Star 24/7 Towing and Recovery for violation of NRS 706.386 (DG)  –  
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
29.  Citation 22075 and Impound I-4452 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 22075 issued to Kristofer Kahabka for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706.758 
(LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  



 
30.  Citation 23196  issued to Andre Sarille for violation of NAC 706.2473 ref. 49 CFR 382.213 and NAC  

706.1378 (LVC)  –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
31.  Citation 23197  issued to Nayem Tanvir  for violation of NAC 706.2473 ref. 49 CFR 382.213 and NAC  

706.1378 (LVC)  –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
32.  Citation 23198 and Impound I-4548 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 23198 issued to Ignacio Mendoza  for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706.758 (LVC)  
–  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION   

 
33.  Citation 23485  and Impound I-5342  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 23485 i ssued to Berhan Gemere  for violation  of NRS 706.386 (LVC)  –  FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION  

 
34.  Citation 24345  issued to Dajon Oneal  for violation of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706.758 (LVC)  –  FOR 

POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
35.  Citation 24409  and Impound I-5548 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 24409 i ssued to Fateh Jat  for violation of  NRS 706.386 (LVC)  –  FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION  

 
36.  Citation 25149  and Impound I-5049  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25149 i ssued to Ruslan Iakhnitsa  for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 
(LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
37.  Citation 25360 and Impound I-4431 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25360 issued to Gavin Richards for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706.758 (LVC)  –  
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
38.  Citation 25510  and Impound I-4801  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25510 i ssued to Umair Irshad  for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706.758 (LVC)  –  
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
39.  Citation 25514  and Impound I-5158  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25514 i ssued to Ulises Perez-Perez  for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 
(LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
40.  Citation 25519  and Impound I-5354  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25519 issued to Louis Taveras  for  violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 (LVC)  –  
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
41.  Citation 25541  issued to Alejandro Cervetto-Cassola for violation of NRS 706.386 (LVC)  –  FOR 

POSSIBLE ACTION  
 

42.  Citation 25544  and Impound I-5410  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered  
to and Citation 25544 i ssued to Benyamin Hosseini  for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 
(LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
43.  Citation 25545  and Impound I-5409 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25545 i ssued to Silvio Alvarez Rete  for violation of NRS 706.386 (LVC)  –  FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION  



 
44.  Citation 25590  issued to Jhon Jairo Peno Salas for violation of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 (LVC)  –  

FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
45.  Citation 25593 and Impound I-5505 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25593 issued to Kiflom Kasa for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 (LVC)  –  
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
46.  Citation 25597  and Impound I-5473  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25597 i ssued to Jorge Roque Bergolla  for violation of NRS 706.386 (LVC)  –  FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
47.  Citation 25615  issued to Renato Oliveira De Aguilar for violation of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 

(LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 

48.  Citation 25623  and Impound I-5510  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 
to and Citation 25623 i ssued to Lazaro Vladimir  Ramirez  for violation of  NRS 706.386 (LVC)  –  FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
49.  Citation 25624 and Impound I-5518 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 

to and Citation 25624 issued to Ndonwie Cletus Nchibnjong for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS  
706A.280 (LVC)  –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
50.  Citation 25926  issued to Dobbs Legacy Movers, LLC / Shawn Dobbins for violation of NRS 706.386 and 

NRS 706.758 (LVC)  –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 

51.  Citation 26047  and Impound I-5535  The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 
to and Citation 26047 i ssued to Serigne Sakho f or  violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 (LVC)  –  
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
52.  Impound I-4453 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Kristie Lostra  

(LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
53.  Impound I-4454 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Shawn Dobbins  

(LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
54.  Impound I-4738 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Hertz Vehicles, 

LLC  (LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
55.  Impound I-5149 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Pamela Tenorio 

(LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
56.  Impound I-5254 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Marcos Soares  

Nobre  (LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
57.  Impound I-5370 The impoundment  pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to U-Haul of  

Arizona (LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
58.  Impound I-5406 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Evelyn Gomez-

Larosa (LVC) –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 



59. Impound I-5472 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Hertz Vehicles, 
LLC  (LVC) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

60. Impound I-5474 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Sixt  Rent A Car 
LLC  (LVC) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

61. Impound I-5516 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Bao Han Nguyen 
Le (LVC) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

62. Impound I-5521 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Gabriel Ramos 
(LVC) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

63. Impound I-5523 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to David Army 
(LVC) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

64. Impound I-5528 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Enterprise 
Leasing Company West, LLC  (LVC) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

65. Impound I-5534 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Yonathan Lemma 
Mekonnen (LVC) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

66. Citation 24243 issued to Luis Horna for violation of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706.758 (RDG) – FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

67. Citation 24124 issued to Ahmed Abdulkader Osman for violation of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 
(VH) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

68. Citations 25469 and 25470 issued to Cauvin Pierre for violations of NRS 706.386. and NRS 706A.280 
(VH) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

69. Citation 25475 and Impound I-5517 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 
to and Citation 25475 issued to Jeffery Dunn for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706.758 (VH)  – 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

70. Citation 25515 and Impound I-5519 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 
to and Citation 25515 issued to Kesete  Welearegay Hailu for violations of  NRS 706.386 and NRS 
706A.280 (VH) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

71. Citation 25539 and Impound I-5407 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 
to and Citation 25539 issued to Hector Varela-Munguia for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706.758 
(VH) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

72. Citation 25625 and Impound I-5520 The impoundment pursuant to NRS 706.476 of a vehicle  registered 
to and Citation 25625 issued to Kyung Cha for violations of NRS 706.386 and NRS 706A.280 (VH) – 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

73. Impound I-5470 The impoundment pursuant to NRS  706.476 of a vehicle registered to Budget Rent-A-
Car  (VH) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

74. Citation 23483 issued to Lynn’s Auto Center for  violation of NAC 706.2473 ref. 49 CFR 382.301(a) – 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 



75.  Citation 23484 issued to Bryant Towing, LLC / Roberto Martinez-Rodriguez for violation of NAC  
706.465 – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
76.  Citation 24343 issued to Lori Kowalski / Hannemans Service, LLC for violation of NAC 706.2473 ref. 49 

CFR 382.301 (3 counts)  – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
77.  Citation 24424 issued to GLX Moving Company of Nevada, LLC for violation of NRS 706.398(1)(a) – 

FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
78.  Citation 24921 issued to Seiji, LLC d/b/a Seiji Limousine, Winner Limousine for violation of NAC  

706.2473 ref. 49 CFR 391.11(a) and NAC 706.229(1)(b) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
79.  Citation 24922 issued to Dawit Berhane for violation of NRS 706.462 – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
80.  Citation 24923 issued to Ashenafi Mezgebu for violation of NAC 706.2473 ref. 49 CFR 391.41 – FOR  

POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
81.  Citation 25532 issued to 24/7 Entertainment d/b/a M Executive Car LV, LLC for violation of NAC  

706.218(3) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
82.  Citation 25533 issued to 24/7 Limousines, Ltd d/b/a 24/7 Limousines for violation of NAC 706.218(3) – 

FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 

Vote taken to approve items 11 through 13:  
Items 11 through 13 were considered  collectively  
Motion made by Commissioner Teti  
Seconded by Chairman Hartung 
Approved 2-0  
 
Vote taken to approve items 14 through 82:  
Items 14 through 82 were considered  collectively  
Motion made by Commissioner Csoka 
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  

 
DISCUSSION ITEMS  

 
83.  Docket 25-08022 Discussion to provide guidance  to the staff on updating NTA Model Tariffs to comport  

with the legislative changes from 2025 session and procedures for  filing for the tariff modifications, 
pursuant to and applicable to NAC 706.406, NAC  706.408, NAC 706.4275 - FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
Applications Manager Liz Babcock presented a document outlining the proposed updates to the model tow  
tariff, of which there are  7 such updates. This document was presented to the Commissioners and made  
available to the public for viewing at the  Meeting.  
 
Chairman Vaughn Hartung proposed deliberating and voting on each update separately in order to 
facilitate a clear and straightforward direction for Staff following this item.  
 
Vote taken to consider each update individually and make a motion  on each one:  
Item 83  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung 
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  



 
Administrative Attorney Yoneet Wilburn  clarified with the Commission that the section on the document  
for Staff’s recommendation was not part of the  motion which the Commissioners were intending to vote  
on.  
 
Vote taken to revise the Flat Model Tow Tariff Template to make the Category C mileage line for tows  
exceeding 10 miles fillable, and to add a corresponding separate mileage page for Category C when  
filed with an Hourly Tow Template:  
Item  83, Update 1  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung  
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  
 
For Update 2, Deputy Attorney General  Jessica Guerra and Administrative Attorney Yoneet Wilburn 
cautioned against  incorporating the Staff recommendation that failure to comply with the reporting 
requirements recommended in the proposed Model Tow Tariff update be subject to citation, given that  
was not contained within the legislation.   
 
Administrative Attorney Wilburn  similarly cautioned against narrowly defining what kinds of damages  
could be included in the  Category C Recovery  rates, given that was  not narrowly defined in the statute.  
Commissioner Louis V. Csoka commented that he understands where Staff  was coming from with that  
recommendation, due to the doctrine of contributory negligence  from the broader common-law context.  
Commissioner Csoka suggested that  the issue could be determined at a later date during administrative  
adjudication on a particular case by engaging with the facts of that case. C ommissioner Csoka expressed 
his understanding of Administrative Attorney Wilburn’s concern, but stated that based on the common law  
principle of equity, it would not be  fair to hold somebody liable for damage that they themselves have not  
caused.  
 
Vote taken to r evise all Tow Tariff Template formats to make Category C Recovery rates  fillable, and to 
add the Recovery  Damage definition to the Tariff Rate Definitions, as well as to adopt NTA policy  
requiring that all recovery damage charges be listed separately  on the tow bill with supporting 
documentation and photos:  
Item  83, Update 2  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung  
Seconded by Commissioner  Csoka  
Approved 3-0  
 
With respect to Update 3, Administrative Attorney Yoneet Wilburn asked how Staff would determine what  
constitutes good cause  relating to discounts provided by tow operators. Applications Manager Liz  
Babcock  clarified that Staff was not concerned with how tow operators determined that good cause  exists, 
but instead with the accounting being clear when a good cause discount was applied.   
 
Vote taken to adopt NTA policy requiring tow operators to record any discount given under NAC  
706.408 directly on the tow bill, including  the amount and the calculation used to determine that 
amount:  
Item  83, Update 3  
Motion made by Commissioner Teti  
Seconded by Commissioner  Csoka  
Approved 3-0  
 



 Administrative Attorney Yoneet Wilburn pointed out to the Commission that NAC 706.408(2)(c), which is  
the Fuel Surcharge  statute that Update 4 relies upon, has  been approved by the legislature but not yet  
codified  in the NAC.  
 
Applications Manager Liz Babcock outlined the  points of concern for Staff  in relation to the fuel  
surcharge updates to the  Model Tow Tariff, the primary concern being which components go into the  
calculation of the base rate  for a tow.  
 
Administrative Attorney Yoneet Wilburn pointed out that the recommendation to calculate the fuel  
surcharge on a monthly  basis may violate the law, given that fuel surcharge pricing is released weekly.  
 
Supervisory Investigator Jason Brown explained that in his experience with auditing the tow bills of tow  
operators, it is only the hook up charges that are included in the base rate for a tow.   
 
Lucas Foletta of the Nevada State Tow Association expressed his opinion that the fuel surcharge statute  
only contemplates when the  fuel surcharge becomes effective but not how long the surcharge rate may  
stay in place. Administrative Attorney Yoneet Wilburn disagreed with this  assessment, citing the statute in  
question which requires the  tow operators to decrease the surcharge whenever the fuel price goes below a  
certain amount, an action which requires weekly  calculation in accordance with the Weekly  Retail  
Gasoline and Diesel Prices metric.  
 
Vote taken to direct Staff to revise all Tow Tariff Template formats to include a separate Fuel 
Surcharge page and to return to the Authority with proposed language defining base tow rate for fuel  
surcharge calculations including evaluation of mileage components that already incorporate fuel:  
Item  83, Update 4  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung  
Seconded by Commissioner  Csoka  
Approved 3-0  
 
Applications Manager Liz Babcock  asked to clarify some aspects of the previous motion. She asked for  
clarification on the effective date for each fuel surcharge calculation, to which Commissioner Louis  V. 
Csoka answered that it should be from posting date to posting date. The Commission agreed and held this  
to be the straightforward interpretation of what was just voted on.  
 
Applications Manager Liz Babcock also wanted guidance on how to calculate the base tow rate, as she  
felt this needed to be decided upon by the Authority. M ichael Baumbach of  the Nevada State Tow  
Association expressed his interpretation that mileage charges are  excluded from the base tow rate, as well  
as recovery charges.  Supervisory Investigator Jason Brown emphasized that only hook up fees, whether  
by flat fee or hourly, are  the only categories that he was aware should be included in the fuel surcharge  
calculation.  
 
Commissioner Louis V. Csoka expressed his opinion that the interpretation proffered by Supervisory  
Investigator Brown is a reasonable interpretation of the  manner in which the base tow rate is to be  
calculated and suggested him and Applications Manager Liz Babcock could work together to articulate  
the standards for base  tow  rate.  
 
Regarding the proposed motion for Update 5, Administrative Attorney Yoneet Wilburn questioned whether  
a retroactive CPI increase should be  up for consideration, given that the statute only became effective in 
December of 2024. Lucas Foletta of the Nevada State Tow Association argued that the regulation was in 
effect in all of 2025, and not allowing a CPI increase until 2026 effectively  denies tow operators a right  
that they have been granted under the statute  due to the  time it has taken for the NTA to revise the Model  
Tow Tariff in accordance with the statute. Administrative Attorney Wilburn  indicated that tow operators  



have been allowed to take advantage of the CPI increase since the regulation came into effect, and 
pointed to Supervisory Investigator Jason Brown’s discussion on how tow operators have been 
incorporating the fuel surcharge as an example. Lucas Foletta argued that the delay in the NTA’s update  
of the Model Tow Tariff  has effectively blocked tow operators from incorporating the CPI adjustment in 
their 2025 tariffs as any  changes incorporating the CPI adjustment would not have been in accordance  
with their tariff and thus  would have been unlawful. 
 
Vote taken to revise the tow tariff templates to add the date and rate of the CPI issued to the bottom of  
the tow tariff template pages for ease of tracking CPI increases granted:  
Item 83, Update 5  
Motion made by Commissioner Csoka 
Seconded by Chairman Hartung 
Approved 3-0  
 
Vote taken to accept tariff modification filings for carriers who have not  had a tariff revision during 
calendar year 2024 and were eligible for that increase at that time and to increase eligible rates by the  
2024 CPI of 2.9%. Eligible rates are those that  were in effect for the 12 months ending December 31, 
2023. These would be adjustments  that were not  already taken and would have to be pro rata adjusted 
for any other benefits by increase they have received:  
Item 83, Update 5  
Motion made by Commissioner Csoka 
Seconded by Chairman Hartung 
Approved 3-0  
 
Applications Manager Liz Babcock summarized Update 6, which extends the time period in which tow  
operators must complete  tows requested by Specific Request Signatures. No motion is required for this  
Update. 
 
Vote taken to accept  Tariff Rate Definitions 6 and 7 to include estimated  vehicle weight for determining  
Category A and Category B classifications, and to revise all Tow Tariff Template formats so that  
Category C Recovery column headings include estimated vehicle weight:  
Item 83, Update 7  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung 
Seconded by Commissioner Csoka 
Approved 3-0  
  

 
APPLICATIONS FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND  

NECESSITY TO PROVIDE TOW CAR SERVICE  
84.  Docket 25-05036 The Application of Happy Towing, LLC for a certificate of public convenience and 

necessity to provide consent-only tow car service  by tow car vehicle within the State of Nevada. Staff  
investigation concluded. (VH) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 

85.  Docket 25-07029 The Application of Top Notch Towing, LLC for a certificate of public convenience and 
necessity to provide consent-only tow car service  by tow car vehicle within the State of Nevada. Staff  
investigation concluded. (VH) – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
Vote taken to approve items 84 and 85:  
Items 84 and 85 were considered collectively  
Motion made by Commissioner  Teti  
Seconded by Commissioner Csoka 
Approved 3-0  



 
APPLICATIONS FOR CERTIFICATES OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND  

NECESSITY TO PROVIDE CHARTER BUS SERVICE  
 
86.  Docket  25-04044 The joint Application of Theodros Gabriel to sell and transfer, and Habtom Gebrewold 

to purchase  and acquire 95% of  Peaceland, LLC d/b/a Rush Hour Transportation, a carrier  authorized  to 
provide charter bus  services within the State of Nevada under CPCN  2383. Staff investigation concluded. 
(AT)  – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
87.  Docket 25-08004 The Diplomat Transportation, LLC d/b/a Diplomat Transportation for a certificate  of  

public convenience and necessity to provide charter bus service  within the State of Nevada. Staff  
investigation concluded. (AT)  – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
Vote taken to approve items 86 and 87:  
Items 86 and 87 were considered collectively  
Motion made by Commissioner  Csoka  
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  

 
APPLICATIONS FOR FULLY REGULATED CARRIERS  

 
88.  Dockets 25-04005 The Application of Reliance Care Enterprise LLC d/b/a RCE Transport for  an  

expansion of authority to provide non-emergency medical transportation within Clark and Nye Counties, 
Nevada, granted under CPCN 1155. Sub 1. Staff investigation concluded. (AT)  – FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION  

 
89.  Dockets 25-04006 The Joint Application of Carlos Concepcion to sell and transfer  and Rolando Galac and 

Erwin Ferrer to purchase  and acquire 33% of the  company stock of Reliance Care Enterprise, LLC d/b/a  
RCE Transport, a carrier  authorized to provide non-emergency medical transportation within the  State of  
Nevada.  Staff investigation concluded. (AT)  – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
Vote taken to approve items 88 and 89:  
Items 88 and 89 were considered collectively  
Motion made by Commissioner  Csoka  
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  

 
COMPLIANCE PERIOD EXTENSIONS  

 
90.  Docket 24-05012 The Request of Peace by Piece, LLC d/b/a The Luxury Vegas Xperience Company 

(LVX Co.), to extend their compliance period for  six (6) months to June 15, 2026. Staff investigation 
concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 

91.  Docket 24-09008 The Request of U Move Company, LLC d/b/a Your Move to extend their compliance  
period by 90 days to February 14, 2026. Staff investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
92.  Docket 24-11018 The Request of R & Y, LLC d/b/a R & Y LLC, to extend their compliance period for  

six (6) months to February 2, 2026. This request requires retroactive approval. Staff investigation 
concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
Applications Manager Liz Babcock  explained that this request was based on “current unstable financial  
situation.”  Commissioner Louis V. Csoka commented that this reasoning for this request raised red flags  



for him and noted he would be willing to approve the request with additional language limiting the  ability  
of the Applicant to request another compliance period extension in the future. 
 
Vote taken to approve  with the condition that the  Applicant may not apply for an additional extension  
unless they provide a substantial explanation of  why they require any additional extension:  
Item 92  
Motion made by Commissioner Teti  
Seconded by Commissioner Csoka 
Approved 3-0  

 
93.  Docket 25-01002 The Request of Wade Enterprises, LLC d/b/a Singing on the Strip, SOTS, SOS, to  

extend their compliance  period by six (6) months to May 4, 2026. This request requires retroactive  
approval. Staff investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
Vote taken to approve items 90, 91, and 93:  
Items 90, 91 and 93 were considered collectively  
Motion made by Commissioner  Csoka  
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  

 
EXPIRED COMPLIANCE  

 
94.  Docket 23-01003 The expired compliance of the sale and transfer of  Dependable Tow,  Inc. CPCN 7326, 

to North Valley Fleet services, Inc. d/b/a Dependable Tow and Staff’s recommendation to issue an Order  
to Show Cause as to why CPCN  7326 should not  be revoked. Staff investigation concluded. – FOR  
POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
Melissa Wooldridge of Dependable Tow explained that the Applicant would like to continue the  
compliance process. Applications Manager Liz Babcock  explained that she  was comfortable with letting 
the sale and transfer proceed, but she would like the item to be tabled to the next Agenda and to see 
substantial effort on the part of the Applicant towards completing the compliance  items in that time.  
 
Vote taken to table item  94 to the January 15, 2026 General Session Meeting unless there is substantial  
progress on the compliance items prior to that General Session Meeting:  
Item 94  
Motion made by Commissioner  Csoka  
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  

FINANCIAL RATES AND TARIFFS  
 
95.  Docket  25-09027-B  The  Application  of  Phenomenal Towing, LLC d/b/a Phenomenal Towing, for  

approval  of  a  tariff  rate  modification for services conducted under CPCN 7371. Staff investigation 
concluded. –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
Vote taken to approve item 94 with  the condition  that the Applicant actually qualifies for the rate  
increase in accordance with the prior Agenda item 83:  
Item 95  
Motion made by Commissioner Teti  
Seconded by Commissioner Csoka 
Approved 3-0  

 



96.  Docket  25-11013 The  Application  of  Bell Chauffeured Services,  Inc. d/b/a KLS Chauffeured Services, 
Bell Trans, Bell Limousine, for  approval  of  a  tariff  rate modification for services conducted under CPCN  
1023, Sub 3. Staff investigation concluded. –  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
Applications Manager Liz Babcock relayed a conversation she had with Attorney Kimberly Maxson-
Rushton, who suggested looking into time-period limitations on when a carrier may apply for Tariff  
modifications. The Board agreed that a discussion item should be placed on the January 15, 2026 General  
Session Meeting Agenda to discuss this topic.  
 
Vote taken to approve:  
Item 96  
Motion made by Commissioner  Csoka  
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  

 
REQUEST FOR TEMPORARY DISCONTINUANCE  

 
97.  Docket 25-10026 The temporary discontinuance from October 24, 2025, through April 23, 2026, of  

services provided by Wellness Transport, LLC, under MV 6165, and if denied, Staff’s recommendation to 
issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be revoked. This request requires  
retroactive approval. Staff investigation concluded. - FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
98.  Docket 25-11009 The temporary discontinuance from October 27, 2025, through April 27, 2026, of  

services provided by Bus 4 Parties, LLC, under CPCN 2359, and if denied, Staff’s recommendation to 
issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be revoked. This request requires  
retroactive approval. Staff investigation concluded. - FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
99.  Docket 25-11021 The temporary discontinuance from November 17, 2025, through May 17, 2026, of  

services provided by Jess Vibe Entertainment, LLC, d/b/a Jess Vibe Entertainment under CPCN 2329, and 
if denied, Staff’s  recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be  
revoked. Staff investigation concluded. - FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
100.  Docket 25-11024 The temporary discontinuance from November 25, 2025, through May 24, 2026, of  

services provided by Hello Vegas Tour, LLC, under CPCN 2359, and if denied, Staff’s recommendation 
to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be revoked. Staff investigation 
concluded. - FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
101.  Docket 25-11025 The temporary discontinuance from November 6, 2025, through May 6, 2026, of  

services provided by Three Brothers Towing, LLC, under CPCN 7564, and if denied, Staff’s  
recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be revoked. This  
request requires retroactive approval. Staff investigation concluded. - FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
102.  Docket 25-11028 The temporary discontinuance from October 31, 2025, through April 30, 2026, of  

services provided by Manny Towing, LLC, under CPCN 7480, and if denied, Staff’s recommendation to 
issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be revoked. This request requires  
retroactive approval. Staff investigation concluded. - FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
Vote taken to approve items 97 through 102:  
Items 97 through 102 were considered  collectively  
Motion made by Commissioner Teti  
Seconded by Commissioner Csoka 
Approved 3-0  



 
REQUEST TO EXTEND TEMPORARY DISCONTINUANCE  

 
103.  Docket 24-07027 The request to extend temporary discontinuance from August 16, 2025, through 

February 16, 2026, of services provided by Paul  M. Sprada d/b/a Buffalo Towing, under CPCN 7185, Sub 
2, and if denied, Staff’s recommendation to issue  an Order to Show Cause  as to why the CPCN should not  
be revoked. Staff investigation concluded. This request requires  retroactive approval. – FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION  
 

104.  Docket 25-04022 The request to extend temporary discontinuance from October 14, 2025, through April  
14, 2026, of services provided by Personal Sedan Service, LLC d/b/a PSS, under CPCN 2055, Sub 7, and 
if denied, Staff’s  recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be  
revoked. Staff investigation concluded. This request requires retroactive  approval. – FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION  

 
105.  Docket 25-04030 The request to extend temporary discontinuance from October 20, 2025, through April  

20, 2026, of services provided by Vegas Strip Transportation, LLC d/b/a Vegas Strip Transportation, 
under CPCN 2143, and if denied, Staff’s  recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the  
CPCN should not be revoked. Staff investigation concluded. This request requires retroactive approval.  – 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
Vote taken to approve items 103 through 105:  
Items 103 through 105 were considered collectively  
Motion made by Commissioner Csoka 
Seconded by Commissioner Teti  
Approved 3-0  

 
EXPIRED TEMPORARY DISCONTINUANCE  

 
106.  Docket 24-08017 The expired temporary discontinuance granted from November 13, 2024, through 

February 13, 2025, of services provided by Highroller Transportation, LLC  d/b/a Highroller  
Transportation under 2192, and Staff’s recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the  
CPCN should not be revoked. Staff investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
107.  Docket 24-08027 The expired temporary discontinuance granted from February 26, 2025, through August  

25, 2025, of services provided by Cooper Holdings Inc. d/b/a Vegas Nights Transportation under 2357, 
and Staff’s recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the  CPCN should not be revoked. 
Staff investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
108.  Docket 24-09002 The expired temporary discontinuance granted from September 1, 2024, through 

February 1, 2025, of services provided by Eseme, LLC d/b/a 2020 Towing under 7473, and Staff’s  
recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be revoked. Staff  
investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
109.  Docket 25-01039 The expired temporary discontinuance granted from January 27, 2025, through June 27, 

2025, of services provided by OLM Towing, LLC d/b/a Olmstead Towing under CPCN 7601, and Staff’s  
recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be revoked. Staff  
investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
110.  Docket 25-02007 The expired temporary discontinuance granted from February 7, 2025, through August  

7, 2025, of services provided by GRG Holdings, Inc. d/b/a  GRG Towing under 7601, and Staff’s  



recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be revoked. Staff  
investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
Vote taken to approve items 106 through 110:  
Items 106 through 110 were considered collectively  
Motion made by Commissioner Csoka 
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  

 
111.  Docket 25-03001 The expired temporary discontinuance granted from February 28, 2025, through August  

28, 2025, of services provided by Sin City Hook Up Towing, LLC under  CPCN 7601, and Staff’s  
recommendation to issue an Order to Show Cause as to why the CPCN should not be revoked. Staff  
investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  

 
Item 111 was removed prior to consideration.  

 
PETITIONS FOR RECONSIDERATION  

 
112.  Docket 25-11003 Petition for Reconsideration of  the decision for Permit T-32 for Yuniel Brunet Diaz. – 

Continued from prior general session.  FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
Vote taken to deny Petition for Reconsideration:  
Item 112  
Motion made by Commissioner  Csoka  
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  
Approved 3-0  

 
113.  Docket 25-11004 Petition for Reconsideration of  the decision for  Impound 25567 for Kiros Areaya. – 

FOR POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
Commissioner Louis V. Csoka recused himself from the vote on this item.  
 
Vote taken to deny Petition for Reconsideration:  
Item 113  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung 
Seconded by Commissioner Teti  
Approved 2-0  

 
114.  Docket 25-11011 Petition for Reconsideration of  the decision for  Permit T-50 for Eboni Tinner. –  FOR 

POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
Vote taken to approve the Petition for Reconsideration:  
Item 114  
Motion made by Commissioner Teti  
Seconded by Chairman Hartung 
Nay by Commissioner Csoka 
Approved 2-1  
 
Vote taken to move General Session Meeting into Closed Session:  
Item  114  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung 
Seconded by Commissioner  Teti  



Approved 3-0  
 
[closed session]  
 
Vote taken to  reopen General Session Meeting:  
Item  114  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung  
Seconded by Commissioner  Csoka  
Approved 3-0  
 
Commissioner Louis V. Csoka commented that he is more open to approving the Applicant’s driver’s  
permit due to the fact that  she works in the Non-Emergency Medical Transport industry and not the  
limousine industry. Commissioner Adam Teti  agreed with Commissioner Csoka’s point and expressed a 
willingness to support  the permit provided there are regular check in’s with the driver’s supervision.  
 
Eboni Tinner commented that her probation is  low-supervision, and s he is intending to file a motion to be  
released from probation.  
 
Vote taken to t able  the consideration of  the driver’s permit  to the  July 9  General Session Meeting  to re-
assess after the Applicant’s challenge to probation  and  allow  the Applicant to continue driving on their  
temporary driver’s permit:  
Item  114  
Motion made by  Commissioner Teti  
Seconded by  Commissioner Csoka  
Approved 3-0  

 
115.  Docket 25-11012  Petition for Reconsideration of  the decision for  Permit T-25  for Isaac Joslin. –   FOR 

POSSIBLE ACTION  
 
Vote taken to  move General Session Meeting into Closed Session:  
Item  115  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung  
Seconded by Commissioner  Csoka  
Approved 3-0  
 
[closed session]  
 
Vote taken to  reopen General Session Meeting:  
Item  115  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung  
Seconded by Commissioner  Csoka  
Approved 3-0  
 
Vote taken to appr ove the Petition for Reconsideration:  
Item  115  
Motion made by Chairman Hartung  
Seconded b y Commissioner Csoka  
Approved 3-0  
 
Vote taken to appr ove the  driver’s permit for Applicant:  
Item  115  
Motion made by  Commissioner  Csoka  



Seconded by Commissioner Teti  
Approved 3-0  

VOLUNTARY CANCELLATIONS  

116. Docket 25-11016 The voluntary cancellation of  RS Enterprises, LLC d/b/a 365 Towing, CPCN  7512. 
Staff investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

117. Docket 25-11019 The voluntary cancellation of T1 Transportation, Inc., CPCN 2115, Sub 2. Staff 
investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

118. Docket 25-11020 The voluntary cancellation of T1 Transportation, Inc., CPCN 2016, Sub 4. Staff 
investigation concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

119. Docket 25-11026 The voluntary cancellation of  Santa Fe Towing, Inc., CPCN  7570. Staff investigation 
concluded. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Vote taken to approve items 116 through 119: 
Items 116 through 119 were considered collectively 
Motion made by Commissioner  Teti 
Seconded by Commissioner  Csoka 
Approved 3-0 

FORMAL WRITTEN COMPLAINT  

120. Docket 25-11031 Formal complaint of the decision for Complaint Investigation Number  I-2502-048 for 
Richard Eaton. – FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Richard Eaton expressed his reasoning for why the Authority should reopen this complaint investigation 
for a hearing, citing what he believed to be unconscionable behavior on the part of the limousine driver 
named in the complaint. 

Supervisory Investigator Jason Brown explained that there were no violations of NRS 706 or NAC  706 
that he found in his investigation of this complaint. 
Commissioner Louis V. Csoka was not convinced that there was any probable cause to pursue action in 
this matter for the Authority, especially considering that multiple  bodies had found that there was no 
wrongdoing. Commissioner Adam Teti expressed some concern about the  alleged actions in this case but 
ultimately agreed with Commissioner Csoka that there was nothing that rose to an actionable level on the 
part of the Authority. 

Vote taken to dismiss  the formal complaint as not having met the probable cause standard pursuant to 
NAC 706.3978, with  such dismissal being ruled  without prejudice: 
Item 120 
Motion made by Commissioner Csoka 
Seconded by Commissioner Teti 
Approved 3-0 

121. Public Comment 

Richard Eaton expressed his concern with the precedent set by the ruling on item 120. 

122. Adjournment 



 

 
The Meeting was adjourned at 2:52 pm  PST.    
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